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          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Good morning,

          3  everyone. My name is Michael McMahon. I have the

          4  privilege and honor of serving as the Chairperson of

          5  the New York City Council Committee on Sanitation

          6  and Solid Waste Management.

          7                 I want to welcome you all today. We

          8  are going to hear testimony regarding some very

          9  important legislation. Before we do that, I just

         10  want to make sure that the record reflects that

         11  yesterday was Carmen Cognetta and Christine

         12  Cognetta's 25th wedding anniversary, and so we want

         13  to congratulate him. And certainly if we could

         14  bestow sainthood on people, certainly Mrs. Cognetta

         15  would be wone to receive it.

         16                 Let me just put into the record a

         17  formal opening, and then we'll get right to the

         18  testimony of our witnesses.

         19                 As I said, this is a hearing of the

         20  Sanitation and Solid Waste Management Committee

         21  regarding Intro. No. 70-A that deals with the

         22  recycling of rechargeable batteries.

         23                 Council Member Oliver G. Koppell

         24  introduced the original Intro. No. 70, that provided

         25  a plan to have batteries, particularly highly
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          2  hazardous rechargeable batteries returned to

          3  retailers to be recycled by their manufacturers.

          4                 A first hearing was held on that bill

          5  in October 2004. Based on testimony given at the

          6  hearing, and subsequent meetings with

          7  representatives of rechargeable battery

          8  manufacturers and retailers with the consent of the

          9  bill's author, the bill was modified to provide that

         10  it will be illegal to dispose of rechargeable

         11  batteries in the City's waste stream.

         12                 The bill also mandates that retailers

         13  accept rechargeable batteries from consumers and

         14  manufacturers must collect and recycle those

         15  batteries -- and I feel a little bit like Janine

         16  Piero, when I went to read the second page of my

         17  statement and it's not there, however, and that was

         18  less than 30 seconds -- the batteries at their own

         19  cost and expense.

         20                 This bill continues the Council's

         21  efforts to remove, recycle or reuse more items from

         22  our city's waste stream.

         23                 This bill would in essence make

         24  mandatory and enlarge the current voluntary program

         25  that is available throughout the City.
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          2                 We will hear today from

          3  representatives from both the battery manufacturers

          4  and retailers, after we hear from the

          5  Administration, who is represented by our first

          6  witness Robert Lang, Director of the Sanitation's

          7  Office of Waste Prevention, Reuse and Recycling. And

          8  before we begin, I want to just thank you guys for

          9  the wonderful composting program we have on Staten

         10  Island in the last week, it's working beautifully.

         11                 And I also just want to ask Oliver

         12  Koppell if he wants to make a few opening remarks

         13  and commend him for his tenacious representation of

         14  the environment, if you will, of New York City and

         15  really the nation. I mean, his work on the Bottle

         16  Bill we all know. But this is also something that he

         17  came to us with a year ago, and he -- or a little

         18  less than a year, but has been incredibly strong in

         19  his advocacy for, and he's truly, the people of his

         20  district are truly well represented by him.

         21                 Mr. Koppell.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chairman.

         24                 Perhaps we're hearing this today

         25  because it's the 25th wedding anniversary
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          2  celebration of all of us. I just celebrated mine as

          3  well.

          4                 So, in any event, I appreciate the

          5  Committee taking this matter up. I have advocated it

          6  for some time, and as you mentioned, probably my

          7  most proud legislative accomplishment, certainly the

          8  one that I'm best known for, is the returnable

          9  container law, which is not dissimilar from this

         10  proposal. And some of the resistance to and

         11  objection to this proposal is very similar to the

         12  resistance to and objection to the bottle bill,

         13  although I don't think that used batteries attract

         14  vermin and bugs, which is one of the reasons that

         15  the bottle bill was opposed by retailers.

         16  Fortunately, this is dry and sort of sanitary waste,

         17  so we don't at least have that problem with the

         18  stores here.

         19                 I might say that notwithstanding

         20  opposition to the bottle bill which was fierce,

         21  prevented passage of the bottle bill for ten years.

         22  The bottle bill has been in existence for over 20

         23  years now, and is, I believe, one of the most

         24  important and effective environmental programs in

         25  the nation.
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          2                 I'm proud to say that over 100

          3  billion, billion with a b, bottles and cans have

          4  been kept out of the waste stream and recycled under

          5  that law over the last 20 years in New York State

          6  alone. And I hope that a similar effect will be felt

          7  with respect to the reusable batteries which the

          8  Committee has appropriately pointed out are far more

          9  dangerous because of what they contain than the

         10  regular disposable batteries, and at the suggestion

         11  of the Committee, and which I concurred with, the

         12  original bill which applied to all batteries has

         13  been modified so that this new bill only applies to

         14  the reusable, rechargeable batteries, and I'm

         15  comfortable with that.

         16                 The second thing that was done to my

         17  original proposal, which I'm less happy about but

         18  willing to certainly explore or to see how it works,

         19  is the removal of the deposit requirement.

         20                 I am concerned, even though disposing

         21  of these will be made illegal, which is appropriate,

         22  that people will ignore that and it will be very

         23  difficult to enforce, and I think that the deposit

         24  aspect of the bottle bill is what makes it so

         25  effective and why it shouldn't be replaced, as some
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          2  people suggest, with just plain recycling. Because

          3  while many people do recycle their cans and bottles,

          4  many people would not if it wasn't for the deposit

          5  requirement.

          6                 So, the deposit requirement has been

          7  removed at the request of the industry and perhaps

          8  some members of the Committee. I'm unhappy about

          9  that, but I'm certainly happier that something is

         10  going ahead than nothing is going ahead.

         11                 One thing I would like to remind

         12  everyone, including those representing industries

         13  who is here, is that I recommended a year lag in

         14  implementation. The bill now has a year and a half

         15  lag which I'm also not that enthusiastic about. And

         16  in fact, I would ask the Chair to consider whether

         17  we could move the effective date back from July 1,

         18  2007 to January 1, 2007, which would give a whole

         19  year.

         20                 I think that has to be a gap to allow

         21  us to make adjustments, once the industry realizes

         22  that this is real, because until they see that it's

         23  real, they don't really grapple with it. At least

         24  that was my experience with my bill in Albany many

         25  years ago. We passed it. They weren't happy with it.
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          2  They fought against it, they didn't consider it.

          3  Then after we passed it, they came in and they were

          4  reasonable. Now, maybe they've already been

          5  reasonable now. But in any event, having a lag

          6  allows for a period of time where industry can come

          7  in and ask for adjustments where they may need

          8  adjustments and should make members of the Committee

          9  more comfortable and members of the Council more

         10  comfortable with passing it, because we're not

         11  passing it to take effect tomorrow, we're going to

         12  give time to see how it's implemented.

         13                 Again, I see in the draft today goes

         14  to July 1, 2007, I would respectfully, if we're

         15  going to be tinkering with this a little more, go

         16  back to January 1, 2007, which I think would give us

         17  a whole year, which would be enough.

         18                 That being said, this is an important

         19  bill. I understand there are similar bills, or

         20  similar laws in other places. This is probably more

         21  comprehensive than anywhere else. I think it puts

         22  New York in the forefront in a very appropriate way.

         23  I think the people of this City, of this country and

         24  of the world have to learn that you just can't throw

         25  everything in a landfill, that we're poisoning the
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          2  atmosphere, that we're wasting resources, and this

          3  is another step to try and limit that.

          4                 And, so, I again appreciate your

          5  actions, Mr. Chairman, Carmine and the Committee

          6  members' actions, and also the industry's actions,

          7  because in the meetings that we held with them they

          8  were flexible to some extent in accepting this

          9  proposal.

         10                 And also, I want to compliment those

         11  elements in the industry that adopted a voluntary

         12  program, because that is a precursor to this.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: It is true. I

         15  think some of what this allows us to do is allows us

         16  to do this without as much rancor as we usually get

         17  when we come up with these proposals, is that the

         18  industry is not totally willing, but willing partner

         19  in this effort, and we appreciate your leadership.

         20                 I want to note that Council Member

         21  David Weprin is here, just stepped out for a moment,

         22  Council Member Robert Jackson is here. Council

         23  Member Larry Seabrook is here as well. He is next

         24  door at the Land Use Committee, and Council Member

         25  Yassky was here earlier. He is now chairing a
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          2  committee hearing on Waterfronts across the street,

          3  and we thank them for that.

          4                 At this time I would ask, or I would

          5  say you guys have the floor.

          6                 MR. LANGE: Good afternoon. Or rather

          7  good morning, Chair McMahon and members of the

          8  Committee on Sanitation, Solid Waste Management.

          9                 I am Robert Lange, the Director of

         10  the Bureau of Waste Prevention, Reuse and Recycling

         11  for the Department of Sanitation.

         12                 I am pleased to have this opportunity

         13  to comment on Intro. 70-A under consideration by

         14  this Committee today.

         15                 With me today is Robert Orlin, to my

         16  left, Deputy Commissioner for the Department of

         17  Sanitation's Bureau of Legal Affairs, who will

         18  assist me in answering questions after my brief

         19  opening statement.

         20                 Intro. No. 70-A proposes to ban the

         21  disposal of useable rechargeable batteries from the

         22  solid waste stream. It would also provide that every

         23  retailer in the City that sells rechargeable batters

         24  must accept used rechargeable batteries from any

         25  consumer, so long as the retailer sells the same
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          2  type batteries being returned, regardless of whether

          3  the consumer purchases any replacement batteries at

          4  the same time.

          5                 The retailer must post a sign

          6  informing consumers that discarding rechargeable

          7  batteries in the solid waste stream is prohibited by

          8  law and that the retail establishment in which the

          9  sign posted accepts used rechargeable batteries.

         10                 Intro 70-A also requires battery

         11  manufacturers to arrange for the return of used

         12  rechargeable batteries collected by retailers and to

         13  recycle them.

         14                 The Department supports measures

         15  aimed at removing from the solid waste stream items

         16  that contain toxic components and more specifically

         17  favors strategies that foster and enhance the

         18  recycling of rechargeable batteries.

         19                 As you may be aware, for over a

         20  decade the battery industry has promoted and

         21  developed a voluntary nationwide reclamation program

         22  of rechargeable batteries used by consumers to power

         23  a variety of household electronic products.

         24                 The Rechargeable Battery Recycling

         25  Corporation known under the acronym RBRC, is a
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          2  non-profit organization established by battery

          3  manufacturers that is dedicated to the recycling of

          4  nickel- cadmium, nickel-metal hydride, lithium-ion,

          5  and small-sealed lead rechargeable batteries.

          6                 Through the RBRC program, more than

          7  20 million pounds of rechargeable batteries have

          8  been successfully recycled to date. This Battery

          9  Reclamation Program is free for consumers,

         10  retailers, communities and public agencies.

         11                 There are dozens of participating

         12  retailers located throughout the New York City area

         13  where residents can drop off their used rechargeable

         14  batteries. Radio Shack, Staples and Best Buy are

         15  among the retailers with the greatest number of

         16  participating stores in our area.

         17                 Also, Verizon Wireless and Cingular

         18  Wireless and other retailers accept rechargeable

         19  batteries for recycling.

         20                 Additionally, the Department collects

         21  household batteries, including rechargeable

         22  batteries, from New York City residents at its

         23  special waste drop-off sites established in all five

         24  boroughs.

         25                 The Department also continues to
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          2  enhance its current public outreach and education

          3  efforts to increase the diversion of batteries from

          4  the waste stream by residents.

          5                 The Department has previously mailed

          6  to all City residents newsletters covering topics

          7  related to new developments in the City's recycling

          8  program, seasonal recycling initiatives, and updated

          9  waste prevention tips.

         10                 The mailers include important

         11  information on promoting the proper disposal of

         12  consumer batteries. The Department also posts and

         13  updates this information on its website.

         14                 Though Intro. 70-A incorporates some

         15  important steps in trying to prevent the improper

         16  disposal of rechargeable batteries by residents, the

         17  Administration needs to understand the bill's

         18  impacts on the day-to-day operations of the City's

         19  retailers, both large and small, and the feasibility

         20  of the bill's storage requirements, given the

         21  limited floor and counter space at many retailers

         22  across the City.

         23                 The Administration must also

         24  determine the costs associated with enforcing the

         25  requirements of Intro. 70-A, but is unable to do so
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          2  without additional information as to the number of

          3  retailers across the City who offer for sale

          4  rechargeable batteries.

          5                 The Administration commits to working

          6  with the Council, the City's business community and

          7  the battery industry to develop an enhanced battery

          8  program that takes into account impacts on retailers

          9  and ensures that small businesses are not unfairly

         10  burdened.

         11                 We would now be happy to answer any

         12  questions you have.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: So, you're for

         14  the bill or against the bill?

         15                 Thank you very much, Mr. Lange. Mr.

         16  Orlin, thank you.

         17                 Just from that, I mean the impression

         18  I get is you agree with the goals, and the

         19  Administration is willing to find a way to make this

         20  work?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ORLIN: Our

         22  position is --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: I mean, it

         24  sounded like me answering a question during a

         25  campaign actually -- well...
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ORLIN: Yes, we

          3  think obviously it's a good idea to try to remove

          4  additional batteries from the waste stream. We think

          5  that's a good goal. But we think it needs to be

          6  balanced by understanding the impacts to retailers,

          7  particularly small retailers.

          8                 And I think the Council Committee

          9  understands that, and I know, you know, you invited

         10  the retailers here today to testify, and so we're

         11  interested to hear what they have to say.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: But if we can

         13  agree with the retailers and the manufacturers on

         14  the details of the plan, is the Administration ready

         15  to support it? I guess your issue then would be

         16  enforcement?

         17                 That's two questions there. If we got

         18  to that point where it was a basic agreement, you

         19  would be okay with it, but?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ORLIN: I think

         21  we'd want to see whatever final language there. We

         22  would want to understand and speak to the retailers.

         23  You know, I can't say what the final goal would be

         24  like, since, you know, there may be additional

         25  discussions.
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          2                 You know, I think our position is

          3  what we just stated.

          4                 As far as enforcement goes. There's

          5  three types of enforcement. One is accepting the

          6  plans from the manufacturers, which the Department

          7  could do, one is looking in the waste stream to try

          8  to ensure that residents have properly disposed of

          9  the batteries. I mean, obviously finding a small

         10  battery in the waste stream could be more difficult

         11  than finding a bottle or a can. And then there is

         12  the enforcement at the retailers, and that's

         13  something that we will need to work with the Mayor's

         14  Office to try to figure out the proper enforcement

         15  mechanism.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Okay, so I can

         17  hold that hope. There's hope. For those that want to

         18  have this bill there's hope, and we'll work on

         19  reaching those requirements that you mentioned or

         20  getting that information.

         21                 But I mean, you understand the way

         22  this -- because in this testimony you talk about,

         23  well, storage, and how is it going to take up space,

         24  but you understand that what happens is that a

         25  retailer would get a box, once it would fill up,
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          2  they would just close it, put on the express mail

          3  label an off it goes. So, they don't have to store

          4  these things, they have a box, they close it and

          5  they ship it and that's the beauty of the plan

          6  that's in effect voluntarily by the manufacturers.

          7  So, that's not really an issue.

          8                 MR. LANGE: I think the answer is

          9  we're generally in favor of something like this, but

         10  the devil is in the details and we have to look at

         11  those details before a final answer.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: All right.

         13  That's more than I had so far. I'll take it.

         14                 What do you do with batteries now

         15  that come into the waste stream?

         16                 MR. LANGE: What do you mean by come

         17  into the waste stream?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Well, in other

         19  words, if I'm at home and -- I would never do this,

         20  but if I bring my battery to a collection center,

         21  what happens to it?

         22                 MR. LANGE: If you bring it to a

         23  special waste site, it's either recycled or disposed

         24  of properly.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Meaning?
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          2                 MR. LANGE: It usually goes to a

          3  hazardous waste incinerator, if it can't be

          4  recycled.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Okay. So, I

          6  mean, this would help the Department with that side

          7  -- do you have any idea of the numbers of batteries

          8  the Department handles that way, or the volume? Is

          9  there a way to measure that?

         10                 MR. LANGE: Off the top of my head I

         11  don't know that. I mean, the program, the entire

         12  program costs about $125,000 a year.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: $125,000 a year.

         14  Could you check the numbers at the Department, see

         15  if there's a way to determine what the volume is

         16  that comes through that way?

         17                 MR. LANGE: Sure.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: And obviously

         19  this would be a savings to the Department of that

         20  amount, I would think, because some people may still

         21  bring them to the Department, but maybe we'll have a

         22  box for you too, and then you just throw them in the

         23  box and mail them, we save 125,000, and that could

         24  help us with the enforcement costs.

         25                 MR. LANGE: Well, of the 125,000,
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          2  batteries are only a very small fraction of the

          3  cost.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Oh, I see the

          5  whole --

          6                 MR. LANGE: The major cost of that

          7  program has to do with used paint and things like

          8  that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: All right. Used

         10  paint will be the next bill.

         11                 Okay, any questions? We've been

         12  joined by Andrew Lanza, my colleague from Staten

         13  Island.

         14                 Okay, any questions? Oliver?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes, thank

         16  you.

         17                 You heard my comments about a year to

         18  fine-tune and make adjustments. Actually on the bill

         19  now would be a year and a half if it passed now? Did

         20  you hear my comments about that?

         21                 MR. LANGE: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, why

         23  wouldn't it be, if you will, appropriate for you to

         24  say you support the bill, but you will use the year

         25  or year and a half actually as it is now to come up
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          2  with any changes that are needed to make it more

          3  workable?

          4                 MR. LANGE: I can answer that in

          5  general, that my own recommendation, it's not a good

          6  idea to pass legislation that you then have to go

          7  back and make major changes to after it's already

          8  passed. It makes more sense to make those kinds of

          9  changes up front, if possible.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But it's not

         11  always possible. Because as I said in my opening

         12  remarks, the industry often doesn't take things

         13  seriously until it stares them directly in the face.

         14  So they don't sit down in a serious way and consider

         15  what they have to do because they're trying to stop

         16  something from happening.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ORLIN: I think as

         18  Mr. Lange's testimony pointed out, I think our major

         19  concern is the impact it may have on small

         20  businesses that don't have a lot of storage space,

         21  even a small box may be difficult to accommodate. I

         22  mean, that's the part we really want to understand,

         23  and we're happy that the Committee has invited the

         24  retailers to testify to that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I just
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          2  would caution that you can't always put everything

          3  right in the first time, and I have just a little

          4  bit of experience, 25 years of passing legislation,

          5  and I don't think that I can remember one single

          6  piece of significant legislation that passed, my

          7  time was mostly in Albany, of significant

          8  legislation that passed in Albany or here for that

          9  matter, that didn't require some fine-tuning later.

         10  And I would urge the Administration to be in favor

         11  of this, while reserving the right to make

         12  recommendations for change. Because the more you

         13  wait, the more you're going to face just opposition

         14  to getting the thing passed in the first place.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Yes, Council

         16  Member Jackson.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Good morning.

         18  How you doing? Good. You said that there is a

         19  battery recycling location in each borough; is that

         20  correct?

         21                 MR. LANGE: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Where is the

         23  one located in Manhattan?

         24                 MR. LANGE: The one in Manhattan is

         25  located on the west side. On the West Side Highway

                                                            23

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  at around 30th Street.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And who is

          4  the typical person that's coming in there? Is that

          5  industry, or is it a consumer? And what numbers do

          6  you see coming in there on a monthly basis to drop

          7  off batteries?

          8                 MR. LANGE: It's only open to

          9  residents. There may be some institutional

         10  generators that bring material as well, like other

         11  government agencies.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         13                 MR. LANGE: But it's primarily

         14  residents that bring material there.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Do you know

         16  the numbers of residents that come in on a monthly

         17  basis?

         18                 MR. LANGE: I don't know them off the

         19  top of my head.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Do you keep

         21  those stats?

         22                 MR. LANGE: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You do?

         24                 MR. LANGE: Those numbers have gone

         25  down somewhat, because the sites are open one day a
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          2  week now.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: That's it?

          4                 MR. LANGE: Yes. They used to be open

          5  seven days a week.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And you said

          7  earlier, I believe in your testimony you said the

          8  cost factor to run is about 125, 150,000 dollars a

          9  year?

         10                 MR. LANGE: For the entire special

         11  waste program. That's for the disposal of the

         12  materials that are received. That's part of that

         13  program. It doesn't include personal cost and other

         14  things like that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And if it's

         16  only open to residents, the consumers, what are they

         17  bringing in? What's the typical? Is it AA batteries,

         18  is it AAA batteries, is it C, Ds? Or I would assume

         19  as a household, and I look at my household, mainly

         20  the batteries that we use are the AA batteries and

         21  so forth. And I'm just curious as to what the

         22  average consumer is bringing in to recycle, as far

         23  as batteries are concerned, and when they come in,

         24  are they bringing a shopping bag full? Are they

         25  bringing a handful? Because quite frankly, myself,
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          2  just to drive down there, if it's on the West Side

          3  Highway, there's nowhere to park. I mean, it's just

          4  very difficult to get to. And for a consumer to --

          5  that doesn't have a car, and has to take the subway

          6  down there, is not cost effective, as far as in

          7  order to do that. I mean, you have to be really a

          8  recycling almost buff in order to take batteries to

          9  that location. Would you agree with that?

         10                 MR. LANGE: Yes.

         11                 What we get there is primarily

         12  household batteries, but primarily non-rechargeable

         13  household batteries.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right. Like

         15  Duracell AA stuff?

         16                 MR. LANGE: Yes, things like that.

         17                 And the great majority we get are

         18  collected by the kinds of persons that you describe

         19  to may aggregate batteries at their office, have

         20  their fellow officer workers bring them to the

         21  office and then they bring them to the drop-off

         22  site, because from an average resident you're not

         23  going to receive a large number of batteries at any

         24  one time, and they may bring them, if they bring

         25  them along with their paint, which is the primary
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          2  thing that we receive at our sites.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Paint?

          4                 MR. LANGE: Paint, car batteries and

          5  oils.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

          7                 Car batteries and oil.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ORLIN: If I can

          9  just point out that, you know, as Mr. Lange

         10  testified, that there is a voluntary program in

         11  place, and there is about 300 retailing sites across

         12  the City that accept batteries voluntarily for

         13  recycling. That's organized by the Battery

         14  Manufacturing Industry.

         15                 So, in addition to these five sites,

         16  you know, a consumer can go to any one of these

         17  retailing stores to return rechargeable batteries.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And that list

         19  is on your website, I assume?

         20                 MR. LANGE: That list is on our

         21  website, that list is on RBRC's website, which is

         22  RBRC.com.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: What's RBRC,

         24  I'm sorry? I'm not aware of the acronym.

         25                 I just want to know what it stands
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          2  for.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ORLIN:

          4  Rechargeable Battery Recycling Corporation.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

          6                 MR. LANGE: If you ever go to Leows,

          7  Home Depot or Staples, they have what are called

          8  point of purchase displays, but in this case it's

          9  not a purchase, but a drop-off for your rechargeable

         10  batteries at those locations.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         12                 MR. LANGE: And they're usually by

         13  where the cashiers are.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. Because

         15  I do know as far as, you know, I think when you buy

         16  a car battery, do they charge you $5 to take it or

         17  something like that, like Sears and what have you? I

         18  know that.

         19                 MR. LANGE: Under state law car

         20  batteries are returnable to the person that you

         21  purchase a new battery from. And also car batteries

         22  have a market, so there's very few car batteries

         23  anywhere.

         24                 We receive some at our sites but very

         25  few.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, thank

          3  you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Thank you,

          5  Council Member Jackson.

          6                 Thank you, gentlemen. Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Can I just

          9  ask --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Sure.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: One question

         12  was raised, under State law is it mandatory to

         13  recycle car batteries?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ORLIN: It is.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: It is. So the

         16  car batteries similar to this, but, of course, only

         17  limited to car batteries?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ORLIN: That's

         19  correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Thank you.

         22                 Thank you, gentlemen. And we look

         23  forward to working on a bill that will warrant your

         24  support, and we will look forward to working with

         25  you over the next few weeks on that.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 Okay, we have one panel to testify.

          4  We have Norm England from the Portable Rechargeable

          5  Battery Association, the RBRC, which represents the

          6  manufacturers. And Donald Halperin, on behalf of the

          7  New York Metropolitan Retail Association, the

          8  Retailers; and Lloyd Hicks, who is here from Inform,

          9  an environmentalist group, and that's actually a

         10  very good representative panel.

         11                 MR. ENGLAND: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         12  Good morning, Committee members. My name is Norm

         13  England. My written testimony is in the package,

         14  which Carmine has, which hopefully he'll distribute

         15  to you shortly.

         16                 I am President of the Portable

         17  Rechargeable Battery Association, and I'm also

         18  President and CEO of the Rechargeable Battery

         19  Recycling Corporation.

         20                 Councilman Jackson, to answer your

         21  question that you posed to Director Lange, and I

         22  only saw his testimony just a few minutes ago, and

         23  he stole half my thunder, so hopefully I won't be

         24  too redundant, you can call 1-800-8BATTERY, in your

         25  zip code follow the prompts like all the other

                                                            30

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  automated things, and you can get a location closest

          3  to you, or you can go to our website, RBRC.org,

          4  o-r-g, put in your zip code and you can find a

          5  Target or a Sears or a Leows or a Home Depot or a

          6  Radio Shack, and I will say Radio Shack is the best.

          7  They're in the battery business and they do a great

          8  job.

          9                 Radio Shack has 5,700 locations

         10  nationwide. They are at a 93 percent participation

         11  rate nationwide.

         12                 What that means is out of those 5,700

         13  stores, 93 percent of them have sent one or more

         14  battery boxes full of rechargeable batteries back

         15  within the last 12 months. So, it's not having to

         16  drive to the west side, look for parking,

         17  inconvenient. What we try to do is make it as

         18  convenient as possible for the average citizen to

         19  recycle their cell phone battery, their laptop

         20  battery, their cordless drill battery, their

         21  cordless phone battery, so that's what we're working

         22  to do.

         23                 I want to stress that our program is

         24  a voluntary industry sponsored program, and we're

         25  working hard to make it work.
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          2                 I'm going to go now to my written

          3  testimony, and I'll probably breeze through it a

          4  little bit, if you'll bear with me.

          5                 Again, Director Lange had a lot of

          6  things that I commented on in his. I could tell you

          7  that we were a strong proponent in work with Senator

          8  Lautenberg on the Mercury Containing and

          9  Rechargeable Battery Management Act that was passed

         10  in 1996.

         11                 That law was a very good law, was the

         12  only environmental bill enacted in 1/'04 and got no

         13  opposition. We worked very closely with federal EPA

         14  on that bill. We worked with Congress on the bill,

         15  and it went through. It helped the industry. It

         16  helped the environment.

         17                 Again, we're a non-profit public

         18  service corporation, funded by the industry. Again,

         19  Portable Rechargeable Battery Association is the

         20  industry trade association. We were founded in 1991.

         21                 In 1994, we formed RBRC, Rechargeable

         22  Battery Recycling Corporation. That really is the

         23  Operations Unit of the industry which actively

         24  promotes and collects rechargeable batteries.

         25                 We are funded by licensing a seal. In
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          2  the information you have in front of you, there is

          3  some pictures of our collection boxes, the

          4  collection bags and the seal.

          5                 Companies sign up for our program to

          6  indicate to the environmental community, to

          7  regulators and legislators that they are

          8  participating and they pay us a fee. Those monies

          9  that they pay us are used to fund our activities.

         10                 Today, over 380 companies license

         11  that right to display the seal. The companies are

         12  listed on the back inside page of our annual report,

         13  which is in your packet.

         14                 In addition to our RBRC shareholders,

         15  you have corporations such as Black and Decker,

         16  Motorola, Nikea, Toshiba, Mikita and the list goes

         17  on and on.

         18                 We paid for all the cost. It's free.

         19  It's free to communities, businesses, public

         20  agencies, retailers, it's free to everyone. We pay

         21  for all the cost.

         22                 Again, as I said, Leows, Home Depot,

         23  Staples, Sears, Target, you can go to any of those

         24  places, drop off your battery, we pay for the

         25  collection boxes, we pay for the shipping cost,
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          2  authorized return, UPS, when the boxes are full, all

          3  they have to do is seal them. When UPS guy comes to

          4  the location, give it to the UPS guy and they take

          5  it to our recycling facility, a company called

          6  IMETCO in Elmwood City, Pennsylvania, where the

          7  batteries are recycled through a power metallurgical

          8  process.

          9                 The nickel from nickel-cadmium and

         10  nickel-metal hydride batteries goes back into the

         11  stainless steel industry, the cadmium is further

         12  processed, reused back into batteries, for lithium

         13  ion batteries, the cobalt is extracted and reused

         14  back into additional lithium ion batteries.

         15                 One thing I'd like to stress is,

         16  again, we're in opposition to this legislation

         17  because we're already doing it. We don't feel it's

         18  necessary to mandate that we do it.

         19                 We have tremendous --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: I just want to

         21  point out. We're not really changing your program.

         22                 MR. ENGLAND: I understand.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: What we are

         24  doing is mandating that New Yorkers do it, and

         25  that's just the difference. And we appreciate that
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          2  you do, and that's what makes this -- I mean, that

          3  was a wonderful experience meeting with the industry

          4  and learning how you're committed to doing this, but

          5  our hope is to mandate that people use the system

          6  that you set up.

          7                 MR. ENGLAND: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          8                 One thing I'd like to point out also

          9  is that we promote and sponsor our program to the

         10  tune of multi-million dollars a year. Our national

         11  spokesperson is a gentleman named Richard Karn. Now,

         12  that doesn't mean anything to anybody. But if you

         13  think of Tim Allen's show Home Improvement, and

         14  think of his sidekick who has the beard, who wears

         15  the flannel shirt, Al, that is Richard Karn.

         16  Probably similar face recognition you'll ever have.

         17  Richard has been our national spokesperson for over

         18  six years now, does a great job. Again, as I said,

         19  he was on Home Improvement, currently hosts Family

         20  Feud, so he's out there in front of the public. We

         21  just finished doing some new public service

         22  announcements which have already aired in the State

         23  of New York and New York City.

         24                 In addition, we have a young man that

         25  we added on about two years ago, a gentleman named
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          2  Danny Sev. Danny happened to be born on Earth Day,

          3  and he is a true environmentalist. One of the finest

          4  young men I've ever met in my life. He's an author,

          5  an environmentalist and ecostylist. Now, what do we

          6  mean by ecostylist? Let me give you an indication.

          7  And Danny has written about this.

          8                 He got a sweater from his grandmother

          9  that there was no way he was ever going to wear. I

         10  mean, it was just awful. Instead of throwing it

         11  away, he cut it up, took a chair, took the seat

         12  cover off and used the sweater to recover the chair.

         13  That's one example.

         14                 Another example of the things he

         15  does, you've all seen the magazines with the little

         16  sniff things, you get the cologne or whatever, well,

         17  Danny cuts those out, folks them up and makes a

         18  bouquet of paper flowers that are scented. He's just

         19  that type of guy. For the last two years during

         20  Fashion Week, we posted events where Danny is the

         21  key person involved, and I guess it's been less than

         22  a month ago, we had I want to say in excess of 90

         23  reporters, authors that attended a meeting to get

         24  our message out.

         25                 We had a good write-up in US Today,
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          2  Women's Wear Daily, things like that. So, we're

          3  working to get the message out.

          4                 Again, I don't want to be redundant.

          5  In 2004, we collected over 4, 667,000 pounds of

          6  batteries. Since we've been in existence, we've

          7  collected over 26 million pounds of batteries. The

          8  annual report gives you additional information.

          9                 In face of this success, we still

         10  have serious doubts as whether the bill before you

         11  is even necessary. Certainly we agree with its

         12  intention, but, again, as I indicated earlier, we

         13  feel that we're already doing the job.

         14                 If you do choose to move the bill

         15  forward, we do have a number of suggestions, and we

         16  offer these in good faith, but without wavering from

         17  our view that no legislation is necessary.

         18                 First, we ask you to review

         19  California similar bill 1125, which has just been

         20  recently passed. It reflects consideration of the

         21  same issues you're considering today, and directs

         22  establishment of a mandatory retail collection

         23  scheme of used rechargeable batteries.

         24                 Importantly, however, it expressly

         25  states that participation in the RBRC program will
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          2  meet the requirements of the statute. And one thing

          3  that is very, very important for the industry, and I

          4  would request that you deeply consider our request

          5  that if someone is already participating in our

          6  program, it's voluntary, it's free, we can report

          7  that if they're doing it, they meet the requirements

          8  of the legislation should you desire to move it

          9  forward.

         10                 Secondly, we urge that you reconsider

         11  most language in Section 1, and we'll be more than

         12  happy to work with staff on that.

         13                 In reality there is still

         14  considerable debate within the scientific community,

         15  regarding the toxicity of rechargeable batteries.

         16                 Our industry believes that their

         17  disposal in properly-operated landfills does not

         18  present any significant issues of environmental

         19  concern.

         20                 The real attention of recycling,

         21  rechargeable batteries should be to allow for the

         22  reclamation and reuse of materials used in them to

         23  divert a modest volume of material from the solid

         24  waste stream.

         25                 Let me clarify something that I don't
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          2  think the Committee is probably, and staff is

          3  probably aware of.

          4                 I'm going to say approximately eight

          5  to ten years ago the environmental, federal

          6  environmental protection agency did a study on the

          7  solid waste stream. And when they published that

          8  report, I can tell you that all batteries, both

          9  primary batteries, which are your Duracells, your

         10  Energizers, the ones that you use and throw away,

         11  and the rechargeables, comprise less than

         12  two-tenths, two-tenths of one percent of the total

         13  solid waste stream. And when you look at

         14  rechargeable batteries, we're only ten percent of

         15  the total battery industry. So, you're chasing a

         16  very minute part of the Solid Waste Stream.

         17                 All batteries, whether they be

         18  non-rechargeable or rechargeable, or two-tenths of

         19  one percent of this total solid waste stream, and

         20  rechargeable batteries are only one-tenth of the

         21  battery industry.

         22                 Again, I know I'm running long, and I

         23  do want to answer any questions you may have.

         24                 My written comments are there. I

         25  would urge you that you reconsider how you define a

                                                            39

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  manufacturer, be more than happy to work with staff

          3  on that.

          4                 The other thing that I urge, and I've

          5  spoken with staff briefly, is we have to consider

          6  Internet sales. You know, you're putting a burden on

          7  the retailers here in the City, but Joe Smith

          8  Company, out in Reno, Nevada, that sells over the

          9  Internet, he's not affected, but he's selling maybe

         10  a heck of a lot of batteries into the City.

         11                 So, that is something that I'd like

         12  to work with staff again, if you go forward, and

         13  again, to be redundant, we don't feel it's

         14  necessary.

         15                 Again, I'm going to go ahead and let

         16  my written testimony stand. Again, I would like to

         17  thank Director Lange, and Commissioner.

         18                 I have no problem with January. The

         19  only problem I have with January, is from an

         20  implementation standpoint. I don't know how many

         21  retailers there are here in the City, and what we

         22  have to do is we have to get in contact with them,

         23  or they have to get in contact with us, okay? Once

         24  they do that, then I've got to place an order to get

         25  boxes produced.
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          2                 Then I get boxes produced, bags

          3  produced, shipped, you know, logistically 18 months

          4  gives me a lot better time. You know, I've got 330

          5  locations, plus City operations working now. I don't

          6  have a problem with it, it's just I would feel more

          7  comfortable from an operations standpoint with that

          8  extra time. But I'll be glad to work with you and

          9  staff on that.

         10                 Mr. Chairman, I'll entertain any

         11  questions.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Why don't we

         13  hear from all three and then we'll do the questions

         14  collectively.

         15                 MR. HALPERIN: Good morning. I

         16  represent the New York Metropolitan Retail

         17  Association, who are in essence the large national

         18  chain stores with a couple of minor exceptions, who

         19  operate within the City of New York, and first and

         20  foremost I'd like to thank the sponsor of the bill

         21  and the Committee for making changes in the original

         22  bill, which makes this proposal much more acceptable

         23  to our members.

         24                 So, you're not going to be hearing

         25  from us the same kind of opposition that you heard
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          2  on the bottle bill or anything, because we feel you

          3  really went to reasonable lengths to make this a

          4  workable thing.

          5                 In conjunction with what you just

          6  heard, the system already in place, that we can, you

          7  know, easily lock into the bill with a couple of

          8  exceptions we do not consider onerous.

          9                 And I did forward at the last minute

         10  some additional comments you have, and I didn't

         11  necessarily expect them to be in this version.

         12                 Let me focus on what the issue is,

         13  and that's signage.

         14                 In retail stores, I mean, I can't

         15  tell you how many times I testify on behalf of this

         16  group and the Council wants signage of about this

         17  about that and you'd be surprised by all the signage

         18  that's required. And, of course, retail space is at

         19  a premium, particularly in expensive areas in New

         20  York City, which most are right now, so to have an

         21  undue, and I stress the word "undue," I'm not saying

         22  there should be no signage, an undue amount of

         23  signage or in areas that are particularly difficult

         24  because of other demands is where the greatest

         25  concern with this bill now rests, as far as the

                                                            42

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  retailers.

          3                 So, let me just give you some

          4  examples. Because we have retailers who sell

          5  tremendous amounts of rechargeable batteries, we

          6  have others who sell hardly any. So, one example is,

          7  and let me focus on the language that you have in

          8  the bill, so everybody who is listening will

          9  understand.

         10                 Retailers shall conspicuously post

         11  and maintain at or near the point of display a

         12  legible sign not less than eight and half inches by

         13  11 inches in size, stating that used rechargeable

         14  batteries of the type and size sold or offered for

         15  sale by the retailer may not enter into the solid

         16  waste stream, and that the retail establishment is a

         17  collection center for such recycling batteries. And

         18  we don't have any problem with posting that you're

         19  not allowed to throw out your rechargeable

         20  batteries. And we don't have a problem with advising

         21  consumers that if they want to recycle them, you

         22  bring them in here and we'll recycle them.

         23                 The question is how many signs do you

         24  need to do that? How large do those signs have to

         25  be? And where are those signs going to be located?

                                                            43

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2                 So, in a store like Duane Reade, for

          3  instance, I was speaking to them, they sell all

          4  their rechargeable batteries from behind the counter

          5  in one spot. For them to post a sign out, they feel

          6  that eight and a half by eleven is too large for the

          7  way they display them, but these are things we can

          8  talk about. But it's not a big problem. They put up

          9  this one sign by the batteries they sell and that's

         10  the beginning and end of it. But think of a Best

         11  Buy, or Circuit City, because it's not just the sale

         12  of replacement batteries, it says the sale of

         13  batteries, rechargeable batteries, which are

         14  contained in numerous products.

         15                 So, it just happens that my battery

         16  ran down on a wireless phone that I have in my home,

         17  and there I went, all the batteries were hanging

         18  together and that wouldn't have been a problem, but

         19  the store that I want to also stores wireless

         20  phones, every one which has a rechargeable battery.

         21  Also sells cell phones, every one of which has a

         22  rechargeable battery. And they're not all displayed

         23  in one area. I mean, these are spread out throughout

         24  the store. So the way that I read the language now

         25  would now require that, I don't know, you could have
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          2  maybe 100 different, or a hundred of the same signs

          3  having to be displayed in the store, and as I say,

          4  when it comes to retail, signage, room for signage,

          5  room for display is a critical issue.

          6                 So, I would like to find if there is

          7  some way to alert consumers about what the law is

          8  and the responsibility of the retail store, but in a

          9  reasonable way.

         10                 One concept we gave is to have like a

         11  decal on the door on the entrance where you have

         12  various other notices about things, you know,

         13  letting people know.

         14                 Now, ironically, a store like -- I

         15  spoke with Best Buy the other day, they said to me,

         16  well, does the sign have to be any less -- or any

         17  more rather? May the sign be larger than the sign

         18  prescribed in the legislation? And in the way I read

         19  it, probably, so long as it was at least that

         20  amount. Because we currently display a sign that's

         21  larger in conjunction with the collection box. So

         22  they don't display it at the point of sale. And he

         23  said, that's always in the front of the store, and

         24  when you walk in you'll see it and you'll see a

         25  large sign. So, to me, that serves your purpose.
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          2                 So, just like not at this hearing per

          3  se, but to have an opportunity to come up with some

          4  reasonable alternative of signage that will serve

          5  your needs and long overburden the retailers.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Okay, thank you.

          7                 Go ahead.

          8                 You have to pull the microphone close

          9  to you.

         10                 MR. HICKS: Thank you, Chairman,

         11  members of this Committee, and New York City Council

         12  for this opportunity to provide comments on this

         13  important law.

         14                 The City Council has an excellent

         15  opportunity with this piece of legislation to ensure

         16  healthier and more waste-free future for New York

         17  City.

         18                 As a professional who has provided

         19  government environmental agencies, advocacy groups,

         20  manufacturers, and with guidance on the design and

         21  implementation of electronic waste legislation, I am

         22  pleased to submit testimony in support of Intro.

         23  70-A that addresses rechargeable batteries.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Can you just

         25  state your name and your organization for the
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          2  record?

          3                 MR. HICKS: Yes. Sorry.

          4                 I'm Lloyd Hicks, Director of the

          5  Solid Waste Prevention Program with INFORM, New York

          6  City.

          7                 So, let me provide a brief background

          8  for inform, and serve as a basis for our perspective

          9  here today.

         10                 We were founded in 1974. We are a

         11  national non-profit environmental research

         12  organization that specializes in analyzing

         13  innovative business practices, technologies and

         14  products that can improve the efficiency with which

         15  our country uses our natural resources, while

         16  preventing waste and contamination as a source.

         17                 Our research has published in-depth

         18  reports, over 100 to date, and articles which is

         19  widely publicized in the press and is used

         20  extensively by government, businesses, environmental

         21  leaders in shaping environmental policies and

         22  programs.

         23                 So, INFORM has specifically

         24  researched and reported about the issue of voluntary

         25  take-back programs for rechargeable batteries for a
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          2  number of years.

          3                 In our 2002 publication, Waste in the

          4  Wireless World, The Challenge With Cell Phones,

          5  INFORM evaluated a Rechargeable Battery Recycling

          6  Corporation Program begun in 1994 by members of the

          7  battery industry to initiate a voluntary national

          8  rechargeable battery recycling program in response

          9  to legislation mandating industry to take back

         10  rechargeable batteries in many states.

         11                 In this report, we noted that in

         12  1998, RBRC forecast recycling 14.3 million pounds of

         13  batteries in 2003, and 16.9 million pounds in 2004

         14  in the US. In reality, they were more than 70

         15  percent short of meeting this goal, collecting only

         16  4 million pounds in 2003 to 4.4 million pounds in

         17  2004 for the US and Canada combined.

         18                 It was clear then that voluntary

         19  efforts were simply not working at the level

         20  predicted.

         21                 In 2005, the problem remains,

         22  INFORM's most recent report, Wireless Waste, The

         23  Challenge of Cell Phone and Battery Collection, we

         24  reevaluated RBRC's recycling efforts in five cities

         25  in New York, New Jersey, including Manhattan,
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          2  Poughkeepsie, Albany, Kingston and Princeton, New

          3  Jersey.

          4                 We found that even by its own

          5  standards, RBRC, the recycling programs have

          6  continued to be disappointing. With a 2004, 2005

          7  study, we chose 48 stores from RBRC's website listed

          8  as being part of the battery take-back initiative.

          9                 We then sent a survey team out to

         10  locate and assess each store and record their

         11  findings.

         12                 INFORM discovered that of the 48

         13  stores, only 41 actually existed at the addresses

         14  given. Of the 41 stores surveyed, only 21 had

         15  battery recycling boxes, 11 of these boxes were

         16  identifiable as coming from the RBRC program.

         17                 When the collection boxes were

         18  present at the designated drop-off location, they

         19  were often hidden from the customer's view behind

         20  the counter.

         21                 Locating boxes was made even more

         22  challenging by the lack of knowledge among the staff

         23  at many locations.

         24                 So, although the battery industry's

         25  ten-year voluntary efforts have not produced the
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          2  results needed to ensure comprehensive recycling of

          3  all rechargeable batteries, the program did set a

          4  positive precedent in the US. It created a voluntary

          5  take-back program that demonstrated participating

          6  manufacturer's willingness to internalize the cost

          7  of collecting recycling discarded rechargeable

          8  batteries.

          9                 Now with Intro. 70-A, New York City

         10  has the opportunity to put the strength behind the

         11  enforcement, behind such a program to ensure

         12  participation by all manufacturers.

         13                 We consider Intro. 70-A to be a

         14  comprehensive well thought out law that engages

         15  manufacturers and ensures convenient effective

         16  take-back program for rechargeable batteries.

         17                 I want to make four points regarding

         18  the provisions that could be either added to 70-A or

         19  could help clarify provisions already included.

         20                 Number one, setting performance

         21  standards for the collection of batteries will spur

         22  both manufacturers and consumers to meet higher

         23  collection goals.

         24                 Collection targets that are set as a

         25  percentage of past sales helps ensure that retailers
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          2  and producers are making reasonable efforts to

          3  educate the public about options for battery

          4  collection.

          5                 This will serve as an incentive to

          6  help ensure compliance with the law.

          7                 Environmentally sound management

          8  standards for recyclers help ensure a safer

          9  workplace.

         10                 Recyclers responsible for processing

         11  these batteries should be able to demonstrate to the

         12  environmental agency charged with overseeing

         13  implementation that the standards for a safe

         14  workplace were met and to protect taxpayers from

         15  liabilities; for example, prevention of future Super

         16  Fund sites.

         17                 Section 20 of California's SB 20,

         18  Electronic Waste Recycling Act, there are some

         19  general standards prescribed that we feel might be

         20  helpful to the City Council as they deliberate over

         21  potential changes.

         22                 Maine has also created a more

         23  specific set of guidelines for the State's E-Waste

         24  Law.

         25                 Further, a definition of what is
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          2  classified as recycling is important, and it should

          3  be incorporated into the legislation.

          4                 Number three, for all sales other

          5  than in-store, this would be Internet sales, the

          6  retailer should be required to provide consumers

          7  with a mechanism for the return of the batteries.

          8                 A clause in California's cell phone

          9  recycling act for 2004 requires a retailer that

         10  delivers a new phone directly to a customer via mail

         11  to provide a mechanism to return their used phone at

         12  no cost.

         13                 I just bought a new Motorola phone

         14  and I actually received a prepaid package so this is

         15  already in place by at least one manufacturer.

         16                 Since the product was not purchased

         17  in the store where the collection facilities exist,

         18  there is a reasonable level of convenience for the

         19  customer, and we believe the same mechanism will be

         20  successful when applied to batteries, and we urge

         21  the City Council to incorporate such language in

         22  Intro. 70-A.

         23                 And four, finally, the retailer

         24  should collect rechargeable batteries at no charge

         25  to the customer. When defining retailer
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          2  responsibilities, the law should specifically state

          3  that retailers ought to take back rechargeable

          4  batteries at no charge to the customer. Without such

          5  language there is a possibility that some retailers

          6  could attempt to collect a fee from customers.

          7                 We encourage the City of New York to

          8  continue to be a national leader in protection of

          9  human and environmental health through the adoption

         10  of 70-A. I'd be happy to answer any questions. Thank

         11  you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Okay. Thank you

         13  all.

         14                 I have no specific questions. I'll

         15  turn it over to my colleagues. I just want to say

         16  that this, it's funny, with the creation and the

         17  changes of this legislation has been one of the most

         18  reasonable processes I've ever seen in the City

         19  Council and could probably be used to teach a course

         20  in legislation. The sponsor is very passionate but

         21  reasonable. Everyone who has been involved has been

         22  passionate but reasonable. And all I will say is, I

         23  think Mr. England said, if you intend to pass this

         24  law; I can tell you that we do intend to do it, but

         25  because we want to have a reasonable discussion and
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          2  continue that, we will postpone the vote for three

          3  weeks, and I say to you all to continue to work with

          4  the staff because issues of signage, issue of the

          5  Internet issue is something that they've already

          6  been working on, the issue of better clarification

          7  of definitions and enforcement are things that we're

          8  working on. The enforcement date I can tell you is

          9  going to be changed by the effective date is going

         10  to be changed, so there's like three more weeks to

         11  create, to finish this very reasonable process,

         12  because in three weeks we will have the bill and

         13  hopefully the Administration will be supportive of

         14  it at that time.

         15                 So, all of your comments we're taking

         16  to heart as we have, and we will continue to do. But

         17  the end process, this bill will not be stopped. This

         18  bill will be passed by the Council, and so I urge

         19  you all to continue discussion with staff and myself

         20  and the sponsor, as you have been doing, and

         21  continue the reasonable tone, and I think we'll have

         22  a package that will be an example in the legislation

         23  for the rest of the country, as the sponsor said.

         24                 So, Oliver, if you have any

         25  questions?
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          2                 I will just say we've been joined by

          3  Council Member Jim Gennaro. We thank him.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: A few, Mr.

          5  Chairman. And thank you for your comments.

          6                 First of all, the gentleman from

          7  INFORM, I don't have a copy of your statement. Do we

          8  have copies of that statement?

          9                 MR. HICKS: I have copies.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay, I think

         11  you should share with some good suggestions and

         12  appreciate your support.

         13                 Let me also then say to Donald

         14  Halperin that I appreciate very much your

         15  cooperation, and your sign concerns are legitimate

         16  and should be addressed and I'll be happy to work

         17  with the Committee on that because I think you raise

         18  very legitimate concerns.

         19                 I must say I was a little surprised

         20  at the statement, especially at the end of Mr.

         21  England. Mr. England, right? Because you sounded

         22  like you were discrediting your own program in

         23  suggesting that these batteries might not be so

         24  dangerous after all.

         25                 And just for the record, I just would
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          2  like to ask you whether you feel that the statements

          3  in this circular, the EPA, which I believe you gave

          4  us, are no longer accurate. And I'll just quote

          5  briefly.

          6                 It says, "Approximately 73 percent of

          7  municipal solid waste is either landfilled or

          8  incinerated. Neither of these methods is suited for

          9  disposal of rechargeable batteries. In landfills,

         10  heavy metals from rechargeable batteries have the

         11  potential to leach slowly into the soil."

         12                 And not to prolong this, then it

         13  says, "When introduced in the environment through

         14  landfill disposal or incineration, these heavily

         15  metals make their way into the food chain. The

         16  presence of these heavy metals in the food chain

         17  presents very serious consequences.

         18                 The possible health affects

         19  associated with ingestion or inhalation of heavy

         20  metals through water, food or air, include

         21  headaches, abdominal discomfort, seizures, and

         22  comas. Additionally, several heavy metals such as

         23  cadmium are known as carcinogens."

         24                 Now, this comes from a paper that I

         25  guess you gave us. Do you not agree with that
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          2  anymore?

          3                 MR. ENGLAND: Councilman, that was

          4  written by the federal Environmental Protection

          5  Agency. It gives a good report on what we're doing.

          6  Do I disagree with that statement? Yes,

          7  wholeheartedly.

          8                 There are studies that are being

          9  finalized in Europe right now on cadmium, that

         10  indicate that cadmium is not as bad an actor as

         11  everybody thinks it is. And further to that, there

         12  are very few heavy metals in the other rechargeable

         13  battery chemistries, save lead.

         14                 Now I will give you that on lead.

         15  Lead is being recycled at the automobile batteries

         16  at a 90 plus percent recycling rate.

         17                 But as far as cadmium being a bad

         18  actor for the environment, cadmium is used in

         19  fertilizer. That's one of the main ingredients in

         20  fertilizer, to fertilize that grow your vegetables

         21  that you would eat. Batteries are only a small part

         22  of it.

         23                 So, when I made my statement about

         24  the scientific community is still in heavy debate

         25  over the toxicity of rechargeable batteries. There
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          2  is still a lot of debate out there, sir.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I might

          4  make some comments about the investigations of that

          5  tobacco industry group, but I won't.

          6                 The problem is that you're

          7  discrediting the value of your own program. I mean,

          8  your program is to encourage the recycling of these

          9  batteries, at least in part to keep them out of the

         10  waste stream, right?

         11                 MR. ENGLAND: We want to recycle.

         12  That's what we're doing.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You're sort

         14  of bad mouthing your own program, not bad-mouthing

         15  it perhaps, but minimizing it. You shouldn't be

         16  minimizing your own program.

         17                 MR. GOLDSTEIN: Hi. Arthur Goldstein,

         18  from Davidoff, Molito and Hutcher. I represent the

         19  RBRC and the NEMA, the National Electrical

         20  Manufacturers Association.

         21                 The intent of that paragraph was more

         22  of a factual basis that were not meant to demean the

         23  program. He works at the program every day of the

         24  year, trying to improve it. So, that's not the case.

         25                 What we have here is, if, in fact,
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          2  this bill passes, it's actually going to generate

          3  more recycling, which is the goal of the

          4  corporation, and clearly, my other client in this,

          5  the manufacturers.

          6                 So, NEMA accepts the premise of this

          7  bill, and that's why we collectively, both of my

          8  clients, have been working very closely with you and

          9  with Council staff and the Chairman of this

         10  Committee. And actually, I was going to say some of

         11  the things that the Chairman said. I think this has

         12  been a very reasonable process, where we brought

         13  some staff to the table that staff has been able to

         14  check out. There have been some modifications, and

         15  we think this has been a reasonable process.

         16                 There's a few comments that were made

         17  today that I think the bill may need to be tweaked

         18  ever so slightly, but we're prepared to work with

         19  this bill, both the manufacturers and the recycling

         20  corporation, if and when it passes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, we're

         22  certainly willing to work with you. We would be

         23  happier if you were for it, because I think it

         24  basically pursues your objectives.

         25                 I mean, is there anything in the bill
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          2  as you read it today? You mentioned that you'd like

          3  the bill to say that participation in your program

          4  would meet the requirements of the bill. And it

          5  strikes me that with some possible adjustments,

          6  maybe it would.

          7                 Isn't your program essentially,

          8  although voluntary, essentially this program, that

          9  the retailer has a box that it takes back the

         10  batteries, the types of batteries it sells.

         11                 Under your program does the retailer

         12  take back batteries that are sold in another store?

         13                 MR. ENGLAND: Sure.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, isn't

         15  your program really essentially the same as this?

         16                 MR. ENGLAND: Right. What we were

         17  trying to say is that if you would like at Assembly

         18  Bill 1125 in California, is that if a retailer is

         19  currently participating in the RBRC program, that

         20  they fulfill the requirements of the statute. That's

         21  what we want.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I think

         23  that's fine as long as it works. I mean, the

         24  comments of INFORM are somewhat disturbing, and I

         25  don't want you to respond now, but I'll be happy to
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          2  hear your reaction to their study, because your

          3  program sounds great, but it's only great if it's

          4  actually implemented. I mean, it's not so great if

          5  stores don't put it into effect, if they hide the

          6  box behind the cash register.

          7                 MR. ENGLAND: Twenty-six million

          8  pounds of batteries.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But how many

         10  pounds are actually sold each year, do you know?

         11                 MR. ENGLAND: With all due respect,

         12  I'd be more than happy to -- I can go on public

         13  record now and take some time to explain it, or I

         14  can talk to you after the hearing is over.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: My last

         16  question would be that. Of the number -- let's not

         17  talk about pounds, because I'm confused. There's a

         18  lot of batteries in a pounds, I suppose. Do you know

         19  approximately how many rechargeable batteries are

         20  sold each year? I'm sure it's a huge number, but do

         21  you know, in the nation or in New York?

         22                 MR. ENGLAND: No.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You don't

         24  know?

         25                 MR. ENGLAND: I can explain to you
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          2  why.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay.

          4                 MR. ENGLAND: Okay?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes.

          6                 MR. ENGLAND: My best example. Let's

          7  take RCA, the RCA brand. Thompson Consumer

          8  Electronic owns that brand. Let's think about a

          9  camcorder, okay? RCA places an order with Panasonic

         10  for 10 million, I'll say AA rechargeable batteries,

         11  okay? Panasonic makes those batteries. But those AA

         12  batteries have to go into a battery pack, encased in

         13  plastic. Now, Panasonic may make that pact, but more

         14  than likely either RCA or a third party is going to

         15  make that pack, and they're going to be either in

         16  Taiwan or in Mainland China, or possibly in

         17  Thailand. So, we got Panasonic who ships 10 million

         18  cells to possibly ten locations where packs are

         19  assembled.

         20                 On the other hand, RCA is over here

         21  making the camcorders, probably in six to eight

         22  locations globally.

         23                 So then we've got the packs from six

         24  to eight to ten locations going to the camcorders

         25  that are six to eight to ten locations, the packs
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          2  are put with the camcorder to put in the box, and

          3  they're shipped globally.

          4                 Now, Panasonic has no earthly idea

          5  how many of those 10 million cells end up in the

          6  United States.

          7                 Carry it a bit further. Those

          8  camcorders are sold to Sears, to Targets, to Best

          9  Buys, whomever. Let's take Sears. If they're sold in

         10  Sears, Sears West Coast distribution facility may be

         11  in Salt Lake City, but they're distributing to

         12  Oregon, Nevada, California, Arizona. So, can we tell

         13  how many of those camcorder batteries ended up in

         14  California? Impossible.

         15                 I've been a member representing the

         16  United States through the Organization for Economic

         17  Cooperation and Development, and we've looked at

         18  this issue, this goes back at least eight years.

         19                 I've also worked with my colleagues

         20  in Europe and Japan, and we collectively as an

         21  industry been working with government, have not been

         22  able to really discern how many batteries enter a

         23  given geographic area.

         24                 What we try to do and what we

         25  publish, and, again, you asked me not to, and I'm
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          2  not going to rebut Mr. Hicks's comments, but I can

          3  -- I think they're grossly in error. What we can do

          4  is report our record as far as collection in pounds.

          5  And the reason we use pounds instead of units is

          6  because inside those packs, different sizes, and as

          7  time goes on, the energy level of the batteries

          8  increases and you need more than likely less

          9  individual cells.

         10                 So, I'll be happy to talk with you

         11  and your staff and go over any of these facts. We

         12  measure in pounds. We've had significant increases

         13  every year and that is our goal, to continue those

         14  increases.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: With all due

         16  respect, sir, and I don't know, we could make a

         17  little side wager after, I'll bet you that the

         18  commerce department can tell us exactly how many

         19  camcorders come into the United States every year to

         20  a significant degree of accuracy. Those numbers are

         21  all available. They're based on estimates, but

         22  they're educated estimates. Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Thank you,

         24  Oliver. And, again, thank you for your leadership on

         25  this issue.
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          2                 Okay, we thank you all for your

          3  advocacy, for those who you represent. And, again,

          4  reasonableness is the catch word for the next three

          5  weeks, then we'll come back with a bill that I think

          6  will not make everybody happy, but that's not the

          7  purpose, but achieve the goal of making the

          8  environment a safer place.

          9                 And just to consider this, perhaps

         10  Mr. England, all of New York City's garbage

         11  currently -- well, not all, but a very large portion

         12  of it, is incinerated.

         13                 So, the people in Manhattan who take

         14  their rechargeable batteries and put them in the

         15  garbage, those are being burned right now, and the

         16  incinerator is modern, up-to-date, but they are

         17  being burned.

         18                 So, this is going on, and it's an

         19  issue that we have to deal with and we think that by

         20  a reasonable piece of legislation that works with

         21  the retailers, works with the environmentalists, and

         22  comes up a way to -- and with the Administration

         23  comes up with a way that can strengthen what you're

         24  doing already is what we intend to do.

         25                 So, we thank you for your
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          2  consideration and cooperation, and I hereby close

          3  this meeting.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 11:50 a.m.)
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